

# Introduction to EDUCATIONAL RESEARCH

**CRAIG A. MERTLER** 

## INTRODUCTION TO EDUCATIONAL RESEARCH

Third Edition

Sara Miller McCune founded SAGE Publishing in 1965 to support the dissemination of usable knowledge and educate a global community. SAGE publishes more than 1000 journals and over 800 new books each year, spanning a wide range of subject areas. Our growing selection of library products includes archives, data, case studies and video. SAGE remains majority owned by our founder and after her lifetime will become owned by a charitable trust that secures the company's continued independence.

Los Angeles | London | New Delhi | Singapore | Washington DC | Melbourne

# INTRODUCTION TO EDUCATIONAL RESEARCH

**Third Edition** 

### Craig A. Mertler

Arizona State University



Los Angeles | London | New Delhi Singapore | Washington DC | Melbourne



FOR INFORMATION:

SAGE Publications, Inc. 2455 Teller Road Thousand Oaks, California 91320 E-mail: order@sagepub.com

SAGE Publications Ltd. 1 Oliver's Yard 55 City Road London EC1Y 1SP United Kingdom

SAGE Publications India Pvt. Ltd. B 1/I 1 Mohan Cooperative Industrial Area Mathura Road, New Delhi 110 044 India

SAGE Publications Asia-Pacific Pte. Ltd. 3 Church Street #10-04 Samsung Hub Singapore 049483 Copyright © 2022 by SAGE Publications, Inc.

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced or utilized in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publisher.

All third-party trademarks referenced or depicted herein are included solely for the purpose of illustration and are the property of their respective owners. Reference to these trademarks in no way indicates any relationship with, or endorsement by, the trademark owner.

Printed in the United States of America

ISBN 978-1-5443-8831-1

This book is printed on acid-free paper.

Acquisitions Editor: Leah Fargotstein Content Development Editor: Chelsea Neve Editorial Assistant: Elizabeth Cruz Production Editor: Olivia Weber-Stenis Copy Editor: TNQ Typesetter: TNQ Proofreader: Theresa Kay Indexer: TNQ Cover Designer: Karine Hovsepian Marketing Manager: Jillian Ragusa

### BRIEF CONTENTS

Preface			ix
Acknowledgr	nent	ts	xvii
About the Au	ithor		xix
PART I	•	INITIAL RESEARCH CONSIDERATIONS	
Chapter 1	•	What Is Educational Research?	3
Chapter 2	•	Overview of the Educational Research Process	21
Chapter 3	•	Identifying a Research Problem	33
Chapter 4	•	Ethics in Educational Research	51
Chapter 5	•	Reviewing Related Research Literature	65
PART II	•	DESIGNING A RESEARCH STUDY	
Chapter 6	•	Qualitative Research Methods	89
Chapter 7	•	Quantitative Research Methods	107
Chapter 8	•	Mixed-Methods Research	139
Chapter 9	•	Action Research	155
Chapter 10	•	Writing a Research Proposal	173
PART III	•	COLLECTING AND ANALYZING DATA	
Chapter 11	•	Qualitative Data Collection and Analysis	191
Chapter 12	•	Quantitative Data Collection	219
Chapter 13	•	Quantitative Data Analysis	257
PART IV	•	THE RESEARCH REPORT	
Chapter 14	•	Writing a Final Research Report	299
Appendix A: Job Satisfact	Shou ion,	uld I Stay or Should I Go? Understanding Teacher Motivation, and Perceptions of Retention Among Arizona Teachers	319
Appendix B: and Barriers	Und Hig	ocumented and College-Bound: A Case Study of the Supports h School Students Encounter in Accessing Higher Education	335
Appendix C: Language Int	The tera	Impact of Book Reading in the Early Years on Parent-Child ction	357
Glossary			373
References			385
Index			389

### DETAILED CONTENTS

Preface	xi
Acknowledgments	xvii
About the Author	xix
PART I • INITIAL RESEARCH CONSIDERATIONS	
Chapter 1 • What Is Educational Research?	3
Finding Answers to Questions	3
The Scientific Method	5
Educational Research—What It Is and What It Is Not	6
Educational Research as a Process	11
Knowing Your Specific Discipline	17
Educators as Researchers	18
Developmental Activities	19
• Summary	19
Chapter 2 • Overview of the Educational Research Process	21
Identifying and Limiting a Research Topic or Problem	23
Formally Stating and Refining Research Question(s)	23
Reviewing Existing Literature Related to the Problem	24
Writing a Literature Review	24
Developing a Research Plan	24
Implementing the Research Plan and Collecting Data	25
Analyzing the Data	26
Stating Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendations in a Written Research Report	27
The Educational Research Process—A Brief Example	27
Developmental Activities	30
• Summary	30
Chapter 3 • Identifying a Research Problem	33
Identifying a Research Topic or Problem	33
Preliminary Considerations in Selecting Topics	34
Limiting a Topic	36
Sample Educational Research Topics	37
Necessary Terminology Related to Research	39
Developmental Activities	44
• Summary	49
Chapter 4 • Ethics in Educational Research	51
Ethical Considerations in the Conduct of Research	51
Ethics in Qualitative Versus Quantitative Studies	57
Institutional Review Boards	57

Formal Preparation for Research With Human Participants	60
Developmental Activities	63
• Summary	64
Chapter 5 • Reviewing Related Research Literature	65
What Is a Literature Review?	65
Sources for Literature Related to Your Research Topic	68
Searching the ERIC Online Database	71
Searching the Google Scholar Online Database	77
Writing Your Literature Review	80
Not Just for Conducting Research—Valuable Sources for Professional Development	85
Developmental Activities	85
• Summary	85

#### PART II • DESIGNING A RESEARCH STUDY

Chapter 6 • Qualitative Research Methods	89
Characteristics of Qualitative Research	89
The Qualitative Research Process	91
Approaches to Conducting Qualitative Research	92
Ethnographic Research	93
Narrative Research	93
Historical Research	93
Grounded Theory Research	94
Phenomenological Research	95
Case Study Research	95
More About Ethnographic Research	96
Topics and Procedures in Ethnographic Research	98
Strengths and Concerns in Ethnographic Research	100
More About Narrative Research	101
Procedures in Narrative Research	102
Strengths and Concerns in Narrative Research	103
Developmental Activities	103
Developmental Activities	
Summary	104
Summary Chapter 7 • Quantitative Research Methods	104 <b>107</b>
Summary Chapter 7 • Quantitative Research Methods Characteristics of Quantitative Research	104 <b>107</b> 107
Summary Chapter 7 • Quantitative Research Methods Characteristics of Quantitative Research The Quantitative Research Process	104 <b>107</b> 107 109
Summary Chapter 7 • Quantitative Research Methods Characteristics of Quantitative Research The Quantitative Research Process Nonexperimental Research Designs	104 <b>107</b> 107 109 110
Summary  Chapter 7 • Quantitative Research Methods  Characteristics of Quantitative Research  The Quantitative Research Process Nonexperimental Research Designs  Descriptive Research	104 <b>107</b> 107 109 110 111
Summary  Chapter 7 • Quantitative Research Methods  Characteristics of Quantitative Research  The Quantitative Research Process  Nonexperimental Research Designs  Descriptive Research  Correlational Research	104 <b>107</b> 107 109 110 111 111
Summary  Chapter 7 • Quantitative Research Methods  Characteristics of Quantitative Research  The Quantitative Research Process  Nonexperimental Research Designs  Descriptive Research  Correlational Research  Causal-Comparative Research	104 <b>107</b> 107 109 110 111 117 120
Summary Chapter 7 • Quantitative Research Methods Characteristics of Quantitative Research The Quantitative Research Process Nonexperimental Research Designs Descriptive Research Correlational Research Causal-Comparative Research Experimental Research Designs	104 <b>107</b> 107 109 110 111 117 120 124
Summary  Chapter 7 • Quantitative Research Methods  Characteristics of Quantitative Research  The Quantitative Research Process  Nonexperimental Research Designs  Descriptive Research  Correlational Research  Causal-Comparative Research  Experimental Research Designs  Preexperimental Research	104 <b>107</b> 107 109 110 111 117 120 124 126
<ul> <li>Summary</li> <li>Chapter 7 • Quantitative Research Methods</li> <li>Characteristics of Quantitative Research</li> <li>The Quantitative Research Process</li> <li>Nonexperimental Research Designs</li> <li>Descriptive Research</li> <li>Correlational Research</li> <li>Causal-Comparative Research</li> <li>Experimental Research Designs</li> <li>Preexperimental Research</li> <li>Quasi-Experimental Research</li> </ul>	104 <b>107</b> 107 109 110 111 117 120 124 126 127
<ul> <li>Summary</li> <li>Chapter 7 • Quantitative Research Methods</li> <li>Characteristics of Quantitative Research</li> <li>The Quantitative Research Process</li> <li>Nonexperimental Research Designs</li> <li>Descriptive Research</li> <li>Correlational Research</li> <li>Causal-Comparative Research</li> <li>Experimental Research</li> <li>Quasi-Experimental Research</li> <li>Experimental Research</li> </ul>	104 <b>107</b> 107 109 110 111 117 120 124 126 127 130
<ul> <li>Summary</li> <li>Chapter 7 • Quantitative Research Methods</li> <li>Characteristics of Quantitative Research</li> <li>The Quantitative Research Process</li> <li>Nonexperimental Research Designs</li> <li>Descriptive Research</li> <li>Correlational Research</li> <li>Causal-Comparative Research</li> <li>Experimental Research Designs</li> <li>Preexperimental Research</li> <li>Quasi-Experimental Research</li> <li>Experimental Research</li> <li>Experimental Research</li> <li>Single-Subject Research</li> </ul>	104 <b>107</b> 107 109 110 111 117 120 124 126 127 130 132
<ul> <li>Summary</li> <li>Chapter 7 • Quantitative Research Methods</li> <li>Characteristics of Quantitative Research</li> <li>The Quantitative Research Process</li> <li>Nonexperimental Research Designs</li> <li>Descriptive Research</li> <li>Correlational Research</li> <li>Correlational Research</li> <li>Causal-Comparative Research</li> <li>Experimental Research</li> <li>Quasi-Experimental Research</li> <li>Quasi-Experimental Research</li> <li>Experimental Research</li> <li>Single-Subject Research</li> <li>Threats to Validity in Quantitative Designs</li> </ul>	104 <b>107</b> 107 109 110 111 117 120 124 126 127 130 132 134
<ul> <li>Summary</li> <li>Chapter 7 • Quantitative Research Methods         <ul> <li>Characteristics of Quantitative Research</li> <li>Characteristics of Quantitative Research</li> <li>The Quantitative Research Process</li> <li>Nonexperimental Research Designs</li> <li>Descriptive Research</li> <li>Correlational Research</li> <li>Correlational Research</li> <li>Causal-Comparative Research</li> <li>Experimental Research Designs</li> <li>Preexperimental Research</li> <li>Quasi-Experimental Research</li> <li>Experimental Research</li> <li>Single-Subject Research</li> <li>Single-Subject Research</li> <li>Developmental Activities</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	104 <b>107</b> 107 109 110 111 117 120 124 126 127 130 132 134 136

Chapter 8 • Mixed-Methods Research	139
Characteristics of Mixed-Methods Research	139
The Mixed-Methods Research Process	142
Approaches to Conducting Mixed-Methods Research	144
Mixed-Methods Research Designs	144
Validity in Mixed-Methods Research	150
Strengths and Limitations of Mixed-Methods Research <ul> <li>Developmental Activities</li> </ul>	151 152
• Summary	152
Chapter 9 • Action Research	155
Characteristics of Action Research	155
Approaches to Conducting Action Research	161
The Action Research Process	161
Action Planning and Reflection	165
Validity in Action Research	167
Strengths and Limitations of Action Research	169
Developmental Activities	170
• Summary	171
Chapter 10 • Writing a Research Proposal	173
Purpose of a Research Proposal	173
General Aspects of a Research Proposal	175
Components of a Quantitative Research Proposal	176
Components of a Qualitative Research Proposal	182
Proposals for Action Research and Mixed-Methods Studies	185
Developmental Activities	187
• Summary	187

#### PART III • COLLECTING AND ANALYZING DATA

Chapter 11 • Qualitative Data Collection and Analysis	191
Sampling Techniques in Qualitative Research	191
Qualitative Data Collection Techniques	194
Observations	194
Interviews	197
Journals	202
Existing Documents and Records	202
Characteristics of Qualitative Data: Accuracy, Credibility, and Dependability	203
Qualitative Data Analysis Techniques	206
Inductive Analysis	207
Developmental Activities	215
• Summary	216
Chapter 12 • Quantitative Data Collection	219
Sampling Techniques in Quantitative Research	219
Probability Sampling Techniques	221
Nonprobability Sampling Techniques	226
Sample Sizes in Quantitative Studies	227
Levels of Measurement	229

Quantitative Data Collection Techniques	231
Surveys, Checklists, and Rating Scales	232
Formative and Summative Classroom Assessments	247
Standardized Test Scores	247
Characteristics of Quantitative Data: Validity and Reliability	249
Validity in Quantitative Research	250
Reliability in Quantitative Research	251
Relationship Between Validity and Reliability	254
Developmental Activities	254
• Summary	255
Chapter 13 • Quantitative Data Analysis	257
Quantitative Data Analysis Techniques	257
Preparing Data for Analysis	259
Selecting a Statistical Analysis Software Program	261
Descriptive Statistical Analysis	264
Inferential Statistical Analysis	278
Cautions in Using Statistics	290
Developmental Activities	293

293

#### PART IV • THE RESEARCH REPORT

• Summary

Chapter 14 • Writing a Final Research Report	299
Importance of the Audience	299
General Guidelines for Writing a Research Report	300
Style Guides	301
Conventions of Academic-Style Writing per APA Style	302
Conventions of Format	307
Practical Guidelines for Writing	314
An Example of a Research Report	317
Developmental Activities	317
Summary	317
Appendix A: Should I Stay or Should I Go? Understanding Teacher Motivation, Job Satisfaction, and Perceptions of Retention Among Arizona Teachers	319
Appendix B: Undocumented and College-Bound: A Case Study of the Supports and Barriers High School Students Encounter in Accessing Higher Education	335
Appendix C: The Impact of Book Reading in the Early Years on Parent-Child Language Interaction	357
Glossary	373
References	385
Index	389

### PREFACE

#### PREFACE ... TO THE PREFACE

Each new edition of a textbook represents change, of some sort. Although it may not appear so to those who are unfamiliar with its "previous iterations," this text—the second edition of its revitalized form—also represents substantial change from its earlier versions. For seven previous editions, I—along with my coauthor, Dr. Carol M. Charles—produced a textbook by the same name, but with a different publisher. In early 2014, an opportunity arose for SAGE Publications to publish *Introduction to Educational Research*, as a first edition. Having worked on two previous textbook projects with SAGE over the previous 15 years or so, I could not have been more excited and jumped at the opportunity to have the SAGE imprint on this textbook—especially since SAGE is the leading authority when it comes to publishing books on the topic of research methodologies.

This new version of *Introduction to Educational Research* represents a significant revision from its previous rendition. For those adopters who are familiar with the previous editions, I firmly believe that you will find this third edition of the text substantially more beneficial to both you and your students. Content coverage and integrated samples and examples were thoroughly augmented, while the conversational writing style apparent in previous editions was maintained throughout.

#### PURPOSE OF THE TEXT

This book has two main purposes, designed to simultaneously receive attention. The first is to provide knowledge about educational research sufficient for a clear understanding of the following:

- The exact definition of what educational research is and is not
- The nature of research and the scientific process it employs
- The identification of research problems and formulation of research questions and hypotheses
- The ethical responsibilities that must be adhered to by researchers
- The purposes and processes of conducting a review of related literature
- The various types of research methodologies and designs, along with their purposes, characteristics, strengths, and limitations
- The characteristics, sources, and techniques used in the collection of data
- The procedures for analyzing qualitative and quantitative data
- The procedures for writing research proposals and final research reports

The second purpose of this book—a purpose that has been given preeminence in this edition (in keeping with previous versions)—is to help graduate students conduct their own research. Toward that end, specific guidance is provided in the following areas:

- Identifying appropriate topics for research
- Properly framing research questions and hypotheses
- Identifying possible types of research necessitated by various topics
- · Preparing a research proposal for an identified research topic
- · Conducting a thorough search for related research literature
- Evaluating various types of research appropriate for investigating selected topics
- Identifying necessary data, sources of those data, and the procedures by which data are collected
- Analyzing data appropriately
- Answering research questions and testing hypotheses
- Stating findings and drawing conclusions
- Preparing research reports

# FOCUSED ON THE NEEDS OF EDUCATORS AND GRADUATE STUDENTS

*Introduction to Educational Research*, the third edition, is designed specifically for educators who are new to research and seeking advanced degrees in graduate studies. Most users will be inservice teachers, administrators, special-education personnel, instructional coaches, and counselors, but the book is also appropriate for graduate students not yet actively teaching. No prior familiarity with the principles, procedures, or terminology of educational research is required to fully benefit from this text.

# TEXT ORGANIZED SEQUENTIALLY, LIKE AN EDUCATIONAL RESEARCH STUDY

The text is composed of 14 chapters, three appendices, and a glossary. In keeping with the purposes of helping students organize and undertake research while simultaneously acquiring fundamental knowledge about research, the text is organized into four parts, as follows:

#### Part I: Initial Research Considerations

Chapter 1: What Is Educational Research?

Chapter 2: Overview of the Educational Research Process

Chapter 3: Identifying a Research Problem

Chapter 4: Ethics in Educational Research

Chapter 5: Reviewing Related Research Literature

Part I clarifies the nature of educational research, explains its characteristics, provides an overview of the entire process of conducting educational research, discusses mechanisms for identifying appropriate research topics or problems, and provides strategies for reviewing related research literature.

#### Part II: Designing a Research Study

Chapter 6: Qualitative Research Methods Chapter 7: Quantitative Research Methods Chapter 8: Mixed-Methods Research Chapter 9: Action Research Chapter 10: Writing a Research Proposal Part II provides detailed descriptions of qual

Part II provides detailed descriptions of qualitative research methodologies and quantitative research designs, mixed-methods research designs, the process of conducting action research, and strategies for developing a written research proposal.

#### Part III: Collecting and Analyzing Data

Chapter 11: Qualitative Data Collection and Analysis

Chapter 12: Quantitative Data Collection

Chapter 13: Quantitative Data Analysis

Part III provides detailed descriptions and examples of data collection and analysis procedures for both qualitative and quantitative research studies.

#### Part IV: The Research Report

Chapter 14: Writing a Final Research Report

Part IV discusses various aspects of writing a final research report, including the importance of identifying the audience, conventions of academic-style writing and format, and practical guidelines for writing.

#### **Back Matter**

The back matter of the text consists of three appendices (i.e., A, B, and C) and the glossary. Appendix A contains a report of a survey research study written by the author of the textbook that has been published in an academic journal. This study is also referred to and provides examples in chapters throughout the text. Appendix B contains a research report resulting from a qualitative research study. Finally, Appendix C contains a report resulting from a quantitative research study. Each of the three research reports was published in a refereed journal and appears in its entirety. The glossary of important terms includes well over 350 terms related to various aspects of educational research.

#### PEDAGOGICAL FEATURES AND BENEFITS FOR STUDENTS

In keeping with the main purpose of helping users clearly understand and apply research concepts, several pedagogical features are included in the book. Each chapter contains the following features:

- **Student Learning Objectives (or SLOs)**—The SLOs serve several pedagogical purposes. They provide a preview for each chapter, list the four to eight major targeted learning objectives for that chapter, and may also be used as a review on completing study of the chapter.
- **Developmental Activities**—Each chapter includes five developmental activities, located at the end of the chapter. These developmental activities are designed to provide opportunities, at a variety of levels of depth and breadth, for students to apply concepts and skills they have learned throughout the chapter. These may be used effectively as course assignments, in-class activities, or as a basis for class discussions on topics addressed in the chapter.
- **Chapter Summaries**—Thorough and detailed summaries of key concepts, listed in bullet-point format, are included at the end of each chapter and provide focused reviews of chapter contents.

Other pedagogical features include the following:

- **Reprinted Research Reports**—The three appendices contain complete published research articles of different types, including survey research, qualitative research, and quantitative research. Additionally, these have been annotated. These articles can serve as opportunities for students to engage in critiques of published articles, as well as to see different formats and writing styles appropriate for academic journals.
- **Glossary**—A glossary of more than 350 terms important in educational research has been provided for easy student reference. The terms are highlighted in boldface on their first appearance in the text. This is one of the most comprehensive glossaries presented in any educational research textbook.

#### NEW FEATURES IN THE THIRD EDITION

There are several new features and/or additions in the third edition of *Introduction to Educational Research*:

- Revised discussion of the scientific method to include qualitative approaches (Chapter 1).
- Expanded coverage of stating and refining research questions (Chapter 2).
- A discussion of features and qualities of good research questions was added (Chapter 3).
- Brief discussion of the history of research ethics involving human research participants was added (Chapter 4).

- Tips for completing IRB applications were added (Chapter 4).
- An additional example of a "literature review map" (using the study included in Appendix A) was added (Chapter 5).
- References to collecting qualitative data as part of survey research were added (Chapter 6).
- The integration of qualitative and quantitative methods in mixed-methods research was stressed (Chapter 8).
- Discussions of problems of practice in action research, and using action research as a means to pursue organizational change were added (Chapter 9).
- Discussion of the role of focus statements in qualitative research was added (Chapter 10).
- Presentation of qualitative analysis methods and tools was revised (Chapter 11).
- Discussion of "scales of measurement" was changed to "levels of measurement," to decrease any confusion caused by the use of that terminology (Chapter 12).
- Presentation of statistical analysis packages and software was revised and updated (Chapter 13).
- Discussions of advanced statistical analysis procedures were removed (due to coverage beyond the scope of this textbook), and this is reflected in the decision-making tree included (Chapter 13).
- The discussion of the APA Manual was updated to the new 7th edition (Chapter 14).
- References to Purdue University's Online Writing Lab (OWL) were added (Chapter 14).
- Appendix A was replaced with a more recent publication by the author, and two additional research reports were added as Appendices B and C. All three research articles have been annotated.
- Hyperlinks throughout the book were verified or revised in order to ensure accuracy (at the time of printing).

#### TEACHING RESOURCES

This text includes an array of instructor teaching materials designed to save you time and to help you keep students engaged. To learn more, visit sagepub.com or contact your SAGE representative at sagepub.com/findmyrep.

F irst and foremost, I would like to acknowledge and sincerely thank everyone at SAGE for wholeheartedly and excitedly agreeing to take on this "new" project when it began its "second life" several years ago. I am approaching 20 years of working with SAGE Publishing, and I have been more than thrilled with my working relationships with everyone at SAGE. I also want to graciously thank Leah Fargotstein (acquisitions editor for education). I would also like to thank the following individuals who contributed to the production of this text: Chelsea Neve (content development editor), Elizabeth Cruz (editorial assistant), and Jillian Ragusa (marketing).

As mentioned earlier in the Preface, this book existed previously in seven different editions. I want to respectfully acknowledge and thank my coauthor on those previous editions, Dr. Carol M. Charles, for his diligent work and professional collaboration over the years.

Finally, I would certainly be remiss if I did not acknowledge the valuable comments, feedback, and suggestions offered by the reviewers who provided input for the development of the third edition of SAGE's *Introduction to Educational Research*:

Jin Liu, University of South Carolina Lydia Kyei-Blankson, Illinois State University Dan Kaczynski, University of Canberra Melissa Spence, California Lutheran University Ilan Danjoux, University of Toronto Kimberlee Everson, Western Kentucky University

I would also like to recognize those who provided feedback on the first and second editions of SAGE's *Introduction to Educational Research*:

Maryann Dudzinski, Valparaiso University Stanley E. Denton, Point Park University Samuel Sennott, Portland State University Kimberly Silbaugh, Western Colorado State University and Lesley University Patricia A. St. John, The College of New Rochelle Kenneth R. Austin, Stephen F. Austin State University Bruce Biskin, Rider University Ellina Chernobilsky, Caldwell College M. H. Clark, University of Central Florida Jacqueline S. Craven, Delta State University Sunny R. Duerr, State University of New York at New Paltz Gerry Giordano, University of North Florida Rachael Goodman, George Mason University Kathleen Hickey, Governors State University Anju Jolly, Pennsylvania State University Greg Knotts, California State University, Northridge Zaida McCall-Perez, Holy Names University Ani Moughamian, Saint Mary's College Brian Myers, University of Florida Karen Nespoli, St. Joseph's College Kathryn Newman, Grambling State University Arturo Olivarez Jr., University of Texas at El Paso Rosalind Raby, California State University, Northridge Melisa Reed, Marshall University Shlomo Sawilosky, Wayne State University Bennett Schepens, Nyack College Karen Selby, University of Detroit Mercy John Tiller, Tennessee State University

My most important acknowledgment and thanks are extended to my wife, Kate, for her never-ending support, encouragement, and advice. Extensive writing projects are difficult without the support, feedback, and "sounding board" provided by those closest to us. My thanks also go to our son, Addison, and his wife, Emma, as they both continue to prepare for their own professional careers.

Craig A Mertler

### ABOUT THE AUTHOR



**Craig A. Mertler** is currently an Associate Professor at Arizona State University. He began his career as a high school biology teacher. He has been an educator for 35 years—25 of those in higher education at Bowling Green State University, the University of West Georgia, Lynn University, and Arizona State University, and 12 years as an administrator (department chair, doctoral program director, and education dean). Over his career, he has taught courses focused on the application of action research to promote educator empowerment,

school improvement, and job-embedded professional development, as well as classroom assessment, research methods, and statistical analyses. He has served as the research methodology expert on more than 100 doctoral dissertations and master's theses. He is the author of 26 books, 9 invited book chapters, 23 refereed journal articles, and three novels. He has also presented more than 35 research papers at professional meetings around the country, as well as internationally. He conducts workshops for in-service educational professionals (at all levels) on classroom-based action research and on the topics of classroom assessment and assessment literacy, as well as data-driven educational decision-making. His primary research and consulting interests include classroom-based action research, data-driven educational decision-making, professional learning communities, and classroom teachers' assessment literacy. In his leisure time, he enjoys traveling with his family to the beach and writing fiction. Dr. Mertler can be reached at craig.mertler@gmail.com for consulting, professional development, and speaking engagements. Additionally, you can visit his website at www.craigmertler.com.

# INITIAL RESEARCH CONSIDERATIONS

D K

### WHAT IS EDUCATIONAL RESEARCH?

#### STUDENT LEARNING OBJECTIVES

After studying Chapter 1, students will be able to do the following:

- 1. Name and describe four methods that can be used to seek out answers to important questions
- 2. Describe the scientific method and how it can be applied to educational research topics
- 3. Summarize characteristics that define what educational research is and is not
- 4. Identify and define key terms associated with educational research
- 5. Identify various methods for conducting educational research
- 6. List and describe the major steps of the educational research process
- 7. Articulate the importance of exploring research in your specific discipline
- 8. Evaluate the perceived importance of educators' conducting their own research

Whether we realize it or not, research is—and should always be—central to how we function as a successful and productive society. Whether we consider history, medicine, social group dynamics, or psychology, regardless of our areas of study or interest, research is the key to answering our questions, solving our problems, and fostering creativity, innovations, and advancements. Research in the broad field of education is certainly no exception to this fact.

#### FINDING ANSWERS TO QUESTIONS

The basic goal in nearly all research studies is to find answers to particular questions. These may be questions about students, teachers, curriculum, attendance, graduation rates, extracurricular activities—the list is seemingly endless. Human nature characteristically prompts us to try to find answers to our questions as quickly as possible. As human beings, however, our general method of thinking tends to be flawed. Tom Kida (2006) identified several common mistakes we tend to make in our thinking:

• We tend to prefer stories to statistics (and research). Because we are social beings, we like to feel connected to others, and stories tend to facilitate those kinds of connections.

Even if presented with convincing statistics, we tend to gravitate to someone telling a seemingly sincere story—even if it is not accurate—because it "tugs at our heartstrings."

- We seek to confirm our ideas, not to question them. Generally speaking, everyone likes to be right, and few of us like to be wrong. When people search for "evidence" to solve a problem, they tend to focus on information which confirms—not contradicts—their beliefs.
- We sometimes misperceive the world. Oftentimes, we see what we want or hope to see, and not that which may actually exist.
- We tend to oversimplify our thinking. Our reality—especially as educators—is extremely complex. We constantly need to analyze complex events that we observe in our classrooms and schools. If we do not simplify our observations, we can become overwhelmed trying to make sense of the world around us.
- *Our memories are often inaccurate or distorted.* With all of the factors and variables that we observe on a daily basis, the passage of time reduces our abilities to accurately remember many details of these events.

It follows, then, that the sources we pursue for possible answers are typically those that are most convenient to us. These sources include tradition, authority, and common sense. Tradition refers to how we have historically sought answers to our questions. For example, suppose that the Adams School District developed an innovative science curriculum 25 years ago. It was very well received at the time of its inception, both locally and statewide—so much so that several other districts developed similar curricula. However, the topic of revising that curriculum was recently raised in a science committee meeting. During the discussion, several committee members explained how innovative the curriculum was when it was originally developed and so why should they now want to abandon something so innovative. The general consensus of the committee was that the science curriculum was great when it was developed and has been working fine since then-so why change it? This argument may be correct; however, a good deal of time has passed and numerous scientific advances have been made since the curriculum was originally implemented. While it may have been effective for Adams' students in the past, it may not be appropriately meeting their academic needs now. Relying on the "it worked in the past, so why change now" attitude might lead us to inaccurate answers to our questions about the appropriateness of the curriculum.

If tradition fails to provide us with suitable answers to our questions, we next look to *authority*, by seeking answers and opinions from individuals who have substantial expertise in the field and who, we hope, know what is best for us. This source remains very popular in the broad field of education and can be highly effective. However, its effectiveness in terms of answering our questions is not always a certainty. Consider the numerous "bandwagon" movements that schools have jumped on over the years. When it turns out that these are not effective solutions to our school-based problems, schools jump off of them almost as quickly as they jumped on, usually in search of a different "quick fix." To work effectively, authoritative answers to our questions must be "customized" to fit the specific needs of the target school, district, or setting. This approach can certainly prove effective, but it does not routinely occur. In many instances, experts simply try to apply their answers to our questions, regardless of our specific situations, demographic makeup, and so forth. In these cases, authoritative

answers typically prove ineffective. For example, what might prove an effective solution in the Adams School District might not be as effective in the Brighton School District, and could even be a miserable failure in the Crestview School District.

If traditional and authoritative approaches to answering our school-based questions do not prove to be effective, we might decide to take matters into our own hands. After all, who knows the specific needs of our district, and our students, better than we do? Using the *commonsense* approach of human reasoning—sort of figuring things out on our own—can be highly effective. However, common sense can be effective only if the information on which solutions are developed and decisions are based is reliable and accurate. For example, consider all the advances in medicine and technology over the past decade—and the numerous failures that often preceded those successes. (Please note that I am using the term *failures* very loosely because if we learned something that ultimately benefits us in the long run, then it was not a failure, in the literal sense of the word.)

In actuality, both tradition and authority can provide additional information and guidance, should we decide to use a commonsense approach to answer our questions. Personal experiences and expertise provide great insight to help us answer our questions, but those sources of information may be biased or incomplete; they are simply not enough. We still need information—reliable and accurate information—to help guide our approach to seeking out answers to our educational questions. Where do we find this reliable and accurate information that can serve as a basis for answering our questions? This type of information must come from a process that is both systematic and objective—and that reflects a greater level of critical thinking—thus providing us with information that is accurate and meaningful, and not distorted or biased (to the extent possible). This approach is best accomplished through the application and use of the *scientific method*.

#### THE SCIENTIFIC METHOD

The scientific method is a specific strategy used to answer questions and resolve problems. It is very likely that you remember the scientific method from a junior or senior high school science course when you were required to complete some sort of research study in the form of a science fair project. The origins of the scientific method date back to 1938, when American philosopher John Dewey described the process as a procedure for thinking more objectively (meaning that the results or answers are not influenced by personal feelings or opinions when considering and representing facts). The scientific method consists of a systematic, step-by-step set of procedures that are employed to objectively investigate some sort of phenomenon and then to answer specific questions about it. Dewey presented the process in the following steps:

- 1. Clarify the main question inherent in the problem.
- 2. State a hypothesis (i.e., a prediction of a possible answer to the question), OR develop an inductive focus (i.e., to help better understand a social problem).
- 3. Collect, analyze, and interpret information related to the question, such that it allows you to provide an answer to that question.
- 4. Form conclusions derived from the interpretations of your analyses.
- 5. Use your conclusions to verify or reject your original hypothesis.

The scientific method is essentially the process used in conducting a vast majority of research studies. However, it is important to realize that this is a "generic" set of steps and that all research studies may not follow these steps to the letter, or necessarily in this order. This is often the case for many types of qualitative research studies. In situations where research studies do not follow the steps exactly, they still share a couple of important concepts in common. First, all research studies clearly specify a research question that serves to guide the conduct of the study, although some studies do not have those questions developed until after the study has begun. Second, all research studies include the collection, analysis, and interpretation of information. Applying the scientific approach to this second set of activities is what enables us to answer our questions more objectively and/or more accurately.

How, then, is the scientific method related to research in the broad field of education? In actuality, there is a great deal of overlap between the two. Simply put, **educational research** involves the application of the scientific method to educational topics, phenomena, or questions. The generic steps in the process of conducting educational research are as follows:

- 1. Specify the topic where a concern exists.
- 2. Clarify the specific problem to focus the research.
- 3. Formulate research questions and/or hypotheses concerning the specific problem or topic.
- 4. Review existing literature related to the topic or problem.
- 5. Conduct procedures by which data (a more appropriate term for "information") are collected, analyzed, and interpreted.
- 6. State the findings that are generated as a result of the analysis of data.
- 7. Draw conclusions related to the original research questions and/or hypotheses.

Note the similarities between Dewey's steps of the scientific method and the steps involved in conducting educational research. The major, integral components are common to both lists. However, to reiterate, these steps do not always occur in practice as they are presented here, nor do they always follow this particular sequence—especially with respect to specific types of educational research, namely those that use qualitative methods.

### EDUCATIONAL RESEARCH—WHAT IT IS AND WHAT IT IS NOT

Although educational research can be a fairly straightforward process, some educators have preconceptions—or, perhaps more appropriately, misconceptions—about exactly what constitutes educational research. To fully appreciate the potential benefits of educational research—both as a researcher and a consumer—it is critical to have a foundational understanding of it. The following list—partially adapted from Leedy and Ormrod (2013)—is an attempt to describe what educational research *is* and what it *is not*.

• *Educational research is scientific.* As a process, educational research is a scientific endeavor. As we previously discussed, educational research closely parallels the scientific method; however, labeling it a "scientific process" goes even further. To say that educational research is scientific is to say that it is characterized by the principles

and methods of science and that it is systematic and methodical. As you see later in this list, educational research is objective and open-minded about the topic being studied. The overall process, when followed appropriately, involves a step-by-step methodology that ensures this high level of systemization and objectivity.

- Educational research begins with a question or problem that serves as the purpose or goal of a study. Schools abound with problems that need solving and questions that need answering—just ask any teacher or administrator. The logical starting point for any research study in education is to clearly articulate the question you ultimately want to answer or the problem you ultimately want to address. In turn, this provides a clear direction for the study—everything that follows, in terms of the development of your study, logically relates directly back to the question or problem. Furthermore, by brainstorming various questions and problems to address, we typically identify even more concerns that require our scientific attention. Clearly stating these questions and/or problems is the first formal step to conducting educational research.
- *Educational research requires the formulation of a specific plan for conducting the research.* Once the inherent question or problem has been specified and clarified, one must develop a plan for just how to conduct this research. The data necessary for answering the question or addressing the problem do not miraculously emerge out of thin air for the educational researcher to take and run with. The entire study must be well planned and carefully thought out, prior to its inception. These are the types of decisions and plans that must be made in advance:
  - Who will you study?
  - How many individuals will you need—or do you want—to study?
  - What information will you collect from them?
  - How will you collect those data?
  - When will you collect those data?
  - What will you do with (i.e., how will you analyze) those data once you have them?
  - o How do you plan to interpret the results of those analyses?

All these methodological issues must be addressed at the outset of any research study. For reasons we discuss later in this book, these types of decisions simply cannot be made "on the fly," in the midst of the research process.

• Educational research requires the collection, analysis, and interpretation of data as a means of answering the inherent question or problem under investigation. For many novice researchers, this part of the process of doing educational research—collecting, analyzing, and interpreting data—often proves to be the most daunting. However, the more attention paid to these steps of the educational research process, the better the quality of the research study's ultimate outcome. In some cases, research studies involve the collection of existing data (e.g., school attendance records or standardized test scores), but they most often require the collection of original, new data (e.g., surveys, interviews, or pre- and posttests) specific to the research questions the study is addressing. Regardless of the source of the data, it still needs to be analyzed (with the perspective of the research question or problem in mind) and interpreted appropriately. This is a commonality across all educational research studies.

• In most cases, educational research tends to be cyclical or helical, as opposed to linear. When we look at the specific process of performing educational research in Chapter 2, it appears as if it is a linear process. In other words, Step 1 is followed by Step 2, which is followed by Step 3, and so on until the research concludes. While this is accurate (to a degree), research seldom, if ever, stops at the end of this process. Often, conducting educational research in an effort to answer one or two pressing questions results in the generation of new, additional research questions—and typically a greater number than you started with. Therefore, it is probably best to view educational research as *cyclical* (i.e., with cycles of research studies that explore the same basic topic in subsequent years or classrooms) or even *helical* (i.e., with a spiraling effect, where the original research study spawns additional, follow-up, or extended studies addressing different aspects of the same broad topic). This is, perhaps, one of the most unique aspects of educational research—that it is never truly done and that one can continually investigate educational phenomena.

Figure 1.1 presents a scenario where a science department might want to investigate the benefits of a virtual dissection (e.g., using an iPad app) versus the more traditional, hands-on method. In Research Study 1 (RS1), the question focuses on the students' preferences for the two types of laboratory activities. The next study (RS2) focuses not on opinion or preference but, rather, on academic performance. RS3 investigates the use of the virtual dissection as a means only to supplement, not replace, the hands-on activity. In RS4, the department might now want to know if there is a difference—in terms of both preference and academic performance—between boys and girls in their use of virtual and hands-on dissections. In this scenario, notice (1) how the same broad topic is being investigated in all four studies, but also (2) that different aspects of that topic serve as the focus (i.e., the guiding research question) for each subsequent study.

- Educational research is, by its very nature, inquisitive, objective, and original. Because educational research is scientific, it must be approached from the perspective of objectivity. The goal of any research study (regardless of the field of study) is the generation of new knowledge, the gaining of a better understanding of some issue or phenomenon, or the development of some sort of innovation. This simply cannot be accomplished if the researcher is biased or approaches a research study with some degree of subjectivity. That being said, it is critical to note that, as human beings, we all possess certain biases-for example, with respect to our view of the world, toward certain people, and even in our perspective on research. Human nature dictates that we always have some sort of preconceived idea (i.e., bias) about what we may find as the result of any given research endeavor; however, the goal when conducting research in education is to make every effort to avoid the temptation to let those preconceptions guide how we conduct the study or interpret our results. Building on the previous example, I may honestly think that virtual dissection is preferred by students and results in better academic performance; however, I still collect opinion and performance data from students on both virtual and hands-on dissection activities. This, in turn, allows me to objectively answer my guiding research question about which learning activity is better.
- *Educational research should be beneficial, meaningful, and significant.* Topics or questions that are trivial in their nature should not be the focus of educational research



studies. Educational research should be conducted so the results prove beneficial to someone, somewhere, somehow, someday. If you want to study something that will not potentially result in one or more of the aforementioned benefits, then I would strongly advise you to rethink your research topic. Educational research should be done to garner new knowledge and to shed light on the human condition and educational phenomena. It should never be conducted as a means of doing harm to individuals or groups, or to denigrate, cast blame, find fault, deny opportunity, or stifle progress. The goal of the educational researcher is always to increase understanding and, whenever possible, to promote opportunity and advancement for the population at large.